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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	BRAD J. HANSON, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

MUNICIPALITY OF ANCHORAGE,

                                                  Self-insured

                                                  Employer,

                                                    Defendant.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	INTERLOCUTORY

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200808717
AWCB Decision No. 10-0175

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on October 29, 2010


Brad Hanson’s (Employee) July 23, 2009 Workers’ Compensation Claim was heard on August 19, 2010, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Michael Jensen represented Employee, who appeared personally and testified.  Attorney Erin Egan represented the self-insured Municipality of Anchorage (Employer).  Employee’s wife, Deborah Hanson, testified in person at hearing.  The record remained open until September 20, 2010, for the parties to obtain depositions that could not be accomplished prior to hearing, and for Employee’s supplemental affidavit of attorney’s fees and costs.  The parties obtained medical depositions and Employee filed a supplemental affidavit of fees and costs.   The record closed when the board next met on September 29, 2010.

ISSUES

Employee contends his need for medical treatment and transportation to California related to his 
L4-5 lumbar spine level arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer, and specifically contends his May 30, 2008 work-related injury was the substantial cause of his need for medical care in respect to the L4-5 lumbar spine level.  He contends he is entitled to permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits from Employer based upon a PPI rating provided by second independent medical evaluator (SIME) Edward Tapper, M.D., or alternately, another PPI rating should be ordered to take into account nerve issues resulting from his injury and related surgery.  Employee contends he is entitled to a late-payment penalty on mileage related to treatment at the L5-S1 level, transportation costs to California for low back surgery, and interest on all past due benefits.  Lastly, Employee contends he is entitled to double, actual attorney’s fees and costs as set forth in his attorney’s filed affidavits, as he contends this case involves mainly a “medical issue.”
By contrast, Employer contends any need for medical care or resultant disability at Employee’s 
L4-5 level is not a result of Employee’s work-related injury.  Consequently, it contends Employee is entitled to no additional PPI.  Furthermore, Employer contends Dr. Tapper’s rating is the only PPI rating involving the L4-5 level, was done incorrectly, and cannot form the basis for an associated PPI award, but suggests the rating may need to be “clarified.”  It contends Employee is not entitled to transportation expenses to California for his disc replacement surgery because adequate surgery was available in Anchorage and the law only requires Employer to pay transportation expenses to the nearest facility where adequate medical facilities are available.  Lastly, Employer contends Employee’s requested actual attorney’s fees are too high and should be reduced if awarded, both because the rate for the attorney and paralegal is too high, too much time is billed for certain legal services, or “block billing” makes it hard to decipher effort expended on unsuccessful or “frivolous endeavors.”
1) Did Employee’s need for medical treatment at the L4-5 spinal level arise out of and in the course of his employment with Employer?

2) Was Employee’s employment with Employer the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment attributable to the L4-5 spinal level?

3) Is Employee entitled to an additional PPI award?

4) Must Employer pay transportation expenses to California as the nearest point where adequate medical facilities were available for Employee’s May 2009 low back surgery?

5) Is Employee, or are his providers, entitled to an award of interest?

6) Is Employee entitled to a penalty?

7) Is Employee entitled to an award of fees and costs?

FINDINGS OF FACT 

A review of the relevant record establishes the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On May 30, 2008, Employee injured his lower back while removing and replacing hoses from the battalion chief’s truck.  Employee felt a pull in his lower back and the resultant pain “persisted and increased” (Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, June 1, 2008).

2) On May 31, 2008, Employee sought medical care at Wasilla Medical Clinic.  He reported a low back injury approximately 5 years earlier with Employer, and lumbar surgery in 1992 arising from a work-related injury in Utah.  He explained his current injury occurred while loading fire hose into a vehicle using a “lifting/turning/extending motion,” resulting in lumbar pain and pain radiating down his right leg (Physician’s Report, May 31, 2008).

3) A magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan performed on June 3, 2008 showed a “normal” L4-5 disc, but a right-sided L5-S1disc extrusion measuring “5 mm by 15 mm,” which deviated a right-sided nerve root, which was also noted to be “edematous,” i.e., swollen (MRI, June 3, 2008).

4) On August 23, 2008, Douglas Bald, M.D., evaluated Employee at Employer’s request for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME).  He opined Employee suffered an acute disc extrusion or herniation at L5-S1 with his May 30, 2008 work injury and developed right lower extremity radiculopathy as a result (Bald deposition, August 13, 2010, at 6-9).

5) The May 30, 2008 work-related injury was the substantial cause of the L5-S1 disc herniation and radiculopathy Dr. Bald found on his evaluation (id. at 9).

6) The May 30, 2008 work-related injury was the substantial cause of the need for surgical treatment of the disc at L5-S1 (id. at 10).

7)  On October 6, 2008, Dr. Bald wrote confirming his prior opinion stating Employee incurred “an injury to his lower back on the job on May 30, 2008 resulting in a very large, right-sided disc herniation at the L5-S1 level of his lumbar spine.”  Dr. Bald agreed Employee required surgical intervention and stated based upon medical probability, “by far the substantial cause of his need for surgical intervention is a direct consequence of the May 30, 2008 injury event” (Bald letter, October 6, 2008). 

8) On October 23, 2008, Marshall Tolbert, M.D., performed a right, L5-S1 laminotomy, discectomy and foraminotomy on Employee in Anchorage, Alaska, to address a right-sided L5-S1 herniated disc with radiculopathy (Operative Report, October 23, 2008).

9) As a consequence of Employee’s work-related disc herniation at L5-S1, and appropriate surgical treatment at that level, Employee developed a progression of “degenerative disc space” at the L5-S1 level “with collapse” (Bald deposition, August 13, 2010, at 12-13).

10) Dr. Bald opined Employee needed further surgical treatment and was a candidate for either disc replacement surgery or possibly a fusion at the L5-S1 level (id. at 14).

11) Dr. Bald did not believe any spinal surgeons in Anchorage in 2009 performed disc replacement surgery (id. at 14-15).

12) Dr. Bald was not recommending any treatment for the L4-5 level in April 2009 (id. at 15).

13) On November 19, 2008, Employee reported doing well for about seven days following his surgery when he felt a pop in his low back and significant low back pain (Tolbert report, November 19, 2008).

14) Employee bent over to grab his toothbrush a few days after his surgery and felt a “pop” and something “give” in his low back, and he had returned symptoms which persisted and caused him to seek more diagnostics and medical care (B. Hanson).

15) On November 19, 2008, a repeat MRI showed new, mild disc bulging and degenerative changes at L4-5 with mild, bilateral neuroforaminal narrowing, when compared to the December 2003 MRI report (MRI, November 19, 2008).

16) Following the first post-injury surgery, Employee noted a fairly sudden onset of increased back pain (Tolbert report, February 25, 2009).

17) Throughout 2008 and into 2009, Employee had various trials of conservative therapy including injections, physical therapy and acupuncture with limited and largely unsuccessful results (Tolbert report, January 14, 2009).

18) Dr. Tolbert referred Employee to Timothy Cohen, M.D., to discuss options for treating his lumbar pain (B. Hanson).

19) On March 24, 2009, Employee saw Dr. Cohen who recommended Employee undergo an anterior lumbar discectomy and disc replacement at the L5-S1 level and offered to provide these surgical procedures to Employee.  As of March 24, 2009, Dr. Cohen had done approximately 150 artificial disc replacement surgeries all of which were through the anterior approach, with minimal complications (Cohen deposition, August 24, 2010 at 7, 14-15).  Dr. Cohen used associated neurosurgeons and various general surgeons as “assistant surgeons” during disc replacement surgeries (id. at 16-18).  He is familiar with the California surgeons who eventually performed disc replacement surgery on Employee, knows them personally, taught classes with them, is familiar with the anterior approach they use, uses the same approach as does his assistants, uses a PRECLUDE Vessel Guard, and uses bone morphogenic protein when he performs disc replacement surgery (id. at 21-32).

20) Adequate medical facilities for the fusion at L5-S1 and the artificial disc replacement surgery at L4-5 were available in Anchorage, Alaska at the time Employee had his surgery in California (id.).

21) On May 18, 2009, Employee served a copy of his mileage log on Employer’s adjuster, reflecting total of 2,684 miles for local medical care from December 23, 2008 through May 13, 2009 (Employee’s Affidavit of Service, July 27, 2009).

22) On May 27, 2009, Rick Delamarter, M.D., performed a preoperative evaluation on Employee and noted he had “some decreased sensation in the L5-S1 distribution on the right side, perhaps a half grade of weakness of the gastrocsoleus” (Delamarter report, May 27, 2009 at 3).

23) On May 28, 2009, vascular surgeon Salvador Brau, M.D., performed a preliminary surgical procedure on Employee in California to move Employee’s organs, veins and arteries out of the way for an immediate, subsequent, artificial disc replacement surgical procedure performed by orthopedic surgeons on Employee (Final Verified Report, May 28, 2009).

24) On May 28, 2009, Dr. Delamarter and Brandon Strenge, M.D., performed anterior disc resections and bilateral neural foraminotomies at L4-5 and L5-S1, a ProDisc prosthetic disc replacement at L4-5, a partial corpectomy at L5-S1 in preparation for fusion, and an anterior interbody fusion at L5-S1 with instrumentation on Employee in California (Operation Report, May 28, 2009).

25) Dr. Bald agreed with Dr. Delamarter’s surgical recommendations for the L5-S1 level.  He disagreed with Dr. Delamarter’s recommendations for the L4-5 level and felt treatment at the higher level was not indicated (Bald deposition, August 13, 2010, at 15-16).

26) Dr. Bald opined if either a disc replacement or fusion had been done at only the L5-S1 level, “theoretically” Employee’s level of function today would be the same as it is now, but also conceded “there is no way to know that.”  In his opinion, had the L5-S1 level been completely normal and Employee had only the abnormalities shown in November 2008 at the L4-5 level, nobody “would even think about performing surgery on the patient.”  Dr. Bald opined he was concerned the L4-5 surgery “maybe” was not clinically indicated, and was hard to attribute to the May 30, 2008 work injury (id. at 18-19).

27) In Dr. Bald’s opinion, Employee’s work for Employer including his May 30, 2008 injury was not a substantial cause of the need for treatment at L4-5 (id. at 20).

28) Dr. Bald was not asked to, and initially did not perform a PPI rating in Employee’s case.  However, at his deposition Dr. Bald first opined if L4-5 and L5-S1 were both taken into account, Employee would have a Class III 19% PPI rating pursuant to the Guides 6th Edition.  However, after further review, he opined Employee would be properly placed in Class I because he has no residual radiculopathy, resulting in a 7% PPI rating (id. at 23).

29) Dr. Bald previously took classes concerning the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (Guides), for the 3rd Edition “in particular” and the revised 3rd Edition.  Dr. Bald has not taken a PPI rating course “recently” but feels he is “pretty familiar” with the Guides.  

30) Employee “completely recovered” from the effects of his 1992 injury and surgery 
(id. at 28).

31) Dr. Bald stopped doing lumbar surgeries about 12 years ago because “technology, everything has gotten so sophisticated that it’s hard to maintain a level of expertise in everything.”  He explained the surgical procedures Employee had on October 23, 2008, noting a laminotomy, discectomy and foraminotomy at L5-S1 (id. at 31, 35, 37, 40-43).  He opined loose fragments found at surgery at L5-S1 were attributable to Employee’s May 30, 2008, work-related injury (id. at 44).  Dr. Bald explain how the prior L5-S1 lumbar surgery Employee had in 1992, along with the 2008 L5-S1 surgery, eventually caused a “collapse” of the disc space at that level, which put greater pressure on the L4-5 disc level, immediately above it.  Statistically, he noted levels above collapsed levels bear the brunt of body stresses and are more likely to feel the “stress and strain” (id. at 50).

32) Dr. Bald also explained surgical procedures Employee had on May 28, 2009.  These included anterior L4-5 and L5-S1 discectomies, bilateral neural foraminotomies at L4-5 and L5-S1, ProDisc prosthetic disc replacement at L4-5, partial corpectomy at L5-S1 in preparation for fusion, and anterior interbody fusion at L5-S1 with instrumentation (id. at 52-60).

33) It is “way more complicated” and “considerably more difficult” to do an anterior approach to these procedures than the posterior approach (id. at 52-53).

34) In Employee’s case, a vascular surgeon performed preliminary work of moving abdominal contents, the iliac arteries and aorta, the iliac veins, and the iliolumbar vein to expose the spine’s anterior surface at L4-5 and L5-S1 (id. at 53-59).

35) Complications are potentially much higher for the anterior procedure because the abdominal contents are in a sack called the peritoneum, and a little cut in the sack, or too much pressure on the bowel can cause serious complications (id. at 54).

36) Vascular surgeons perform this approach “all the time” and have “a lot more experience doing that kind of approach” than do orthopedic surgeons (id. at 54-55). 

37) Abdominal veins are much more friable than arteries, and when they are moved a surgeon needs to be really cautious because it takes “almost nothing” to tear a vein, which would be “just about be as disastrous as a ruptured artery, but it can happen more easily” (id. at 58-59).

38) “It was very reasonable” for Employee to decide to have these procedures done by these physicians versus doctors in Alaska (id. at 59-60).

39) Employee’s case is “a little bit of a unique situation,” because artificial disc replacement is “relatively new and technically, doing that procedure is difficult.”  Someone who “performs them regularly and does maybe 100 of them a year technically is going to do it much better than someone else who’s doing one or two a year. . . .  there is no question about that” (id. at 60).

40) If Dr. Bald were personally going to have this procedure done, he would want it done “by somebody who does it all the time because it’s technically very demanding.”  He thinks it “was very reasonable” for Employee to go to California for this procedure (id. at 61).

41) Dr. Bald thinks Employee “could have” gotten comparable treatment in Alaska, but “from the patient’s perspective,” his “chances of having a really good result are higher when you go somewhere with somebody who’s . . . really experienced.”  “Statistically,” Employee’s “odds of a better result are better going there” than having it done in Alaska (id. at 62).

42) There is nobody in Alaska who has “anywhere near the experience” of doing artificial disc replacement surgery as Dr. Delamarter (id. at 62).  Dr. Bald does not know vascular surgeons in Alaska and cannot comment on whether local vascular surgeons have the expertise to assist in artificial disc replacement surgery such as done on Employee in California (id. at 63).

43) Dr. Bald opined Dr. Delamarter’s treatment “certainly” was “reasonable and necessary” but he would “not have included the L4-5 level,” but conceded he “was not the one doing the surgery” (id. at 65-66).

44) One of the reasons to do an artificial disc replacement at L4-5, as opposed to fusing that level as well, is to maintain motion in the L4-5 segment to absorb “stress and strain.”  One of the theories behind why artificial disc replacement may be particularly beneficial “in the long run” is it does not transmit forces normally being absorbed in the levels above.  The artificial disc continues to absorb them because of the presence of the disc, and there is “still motion and movement and muscle tone at that level.”  If Dr. Bald were going to do anything at Employee’s L4-5, “the disc replacement is the appropriate thing to do.”  In his mind, Dr. Bald probably would have left L4-5 alone, not done anything, to see what happened (id. at 66).

45) On August 7, 2009, Employer’s adjuster paid Employee $1,234.67 for the local mileage he submitted on May 18, 2009, for the period December 28, 2008 through May 13, 2009 (Employee’s Affidavit of Service, August 17, 2009).

46) On August 18, 2009, Employer controverted medical benefits related to L4-5, fees, costs, penalties and interest (Controversion Notice, August 17, 2009).

47) On August 18, 2009, Employer also controverted “transportation costs in excess of those required by statute” and as a reason stated it was only required to pay for medical transportation costs to the nearest point where adequate medical facilities are available, and stated those facilities were available in Anchorage.  However, Employer did not controvert Employee’s mileage request for driving round-trip from his home to Anchorage for work-related medical treatment and did not suggest his transportation log for local medical services was excessive or improper (id.).

48) On February 5, 2010, Employee saw Dr. Tapper for an SIME.  In his deposition, 
Dr. Tapper convincingly testified after Employee’s May 2008 injury, an MRI showed a large disc at L5-S1, which led to an L5-S1 laminectomy in October 2008.  Employee was fine for a few days after surgery; however, subsequently something “popped” in Employee’s back and he immediately had back and leg pain.  This led to a second MRI, which showed the disc space collapsed and there were changes at L4-5, as well as a new disc bulge.  Conservative treatment did not resolve the condition, which led to an L5-S1 fusion and an L4-5 artificial disc replacement.  Dr. Delamarter performed the May 2009 surgery and Employee returned to full duty work on January 1, 2010, with an excellent result except for a “retrograde ejaculation” complication (Tapper Deposition, June 4, 2010 at 10-11).

49) Considering Employee was a young, active, physical man who did physical work from 1992 until his injury in 2008, with no work restrictions, medications or treatment, Dr. Tapper did not place any responsibility for the 2008 work-related injury on the 1992 work-related injury, except to mention the 1992 L5-S1 laminectomy compromised Employee’s spine at that level 
(id. at 14).

50) The treatment Employee received at both L5-S1 and L4-5 were related to the 2008 work-related injury (id. at 14-15). 

51) Dr. Tapper is in a group with eight to ten physicians, two of whom are spinal surgeons.  Dr. Tapper classified Employee’s case as “exceptional.”  He was aware of the dispute regarding whether the 2008 work-related injury was the substantial cause of the need for the second, post-injury surgery; therefore, he reviewed Employee’s case with spinal surgeon Mike Fry, who concurred with Dr. Delamarter’s opinion the need for treatment at L4-5 was due to the 2008 work-related injury (id. at 15-16).

52) Dr. Tapper evaluated Employee’s PPI under both the 5th and 6th Editions of the AMA Guides.  Based upon Employee’s injury date, the 6th Edition was the correct version with which to rate Employee (id. at 19).

53) Using the 6th Edition, Dr. Tapper diagnosed intervertebral disc herniations at multiple levels with surgery and residual radiculopathy, which placed Employee in “Class 3” impairment.  Dr. Tapper placed Employee in Class 3 based specifically upon radiculopathy documented as weakness in Employee’s legs.  Dr. Tapper suspected the leg weakness was related to Employee’s 2008 work-related injury given he led a physically active lifestyle for 15 years without significant issues (id. at 21-22).

54) In placing Employee in Class 3 impairment, Dr. Tapper did not go through the “grade modifiers” in the AMA Guides to reach his rating.  Grade modifiers are used to grade evidence of radiculopathy and Dr. Tapper did not consider these when he rated Employee.  When reviewing the grade modifiers, based upon the February 2010 evaluation, Dr. Tapper thought Employee’s grade modifier was probably zero, except motor strength was Grade 1 (id. at 23).  

55) Dr. Tapper conceded he had never used grade modifiers and, before he rated Employee, had never used the AMA Guides 6th Edition.  Dr. Tapper has had no training on the AMA Guides 6th Edition (id.).
56) The May 30, 2008 work-related injury or Employee’s work as a firefighter was the substantial cause of the L4-5 condition resulting in disc replacement surgery (id. at 32).
57) Had Employee not worked as a firefighter or had the May 30, 2008 injury, he would not have needed the L4-5 treatment at the time he did, or to the degree he did (id).
58) Employee’s May 30, 2008 work-related injury accelerated or aggravated the preexisting condition at L5-S1 (id. at 33).
59) On May 25, 2010, Employer’s attorney wrote to Marilyn Yodlowski, M.D., in preparation for another EME.  Among other things, Dr. Yodlowski was asked to identify each “condition” she diagnosed for Employee, and was advised by Employer’s counsel the medical-legal test in Alaska for causation was “whether the 5/30/08 work injury was ‘the substantial cause’ of the condition” identified (letter, May 25, 2010).

60) On June 8, 2010, Employee saw Dr. Yodlowski for an EME.   Dr. Yodlowski has not performed low-back surgery since 1997, as a primary surgeon performed less than 20, and has never done a disc replacement procedure (Dr. Yodlowski deposition at 10-11).  She opined the substantial cause of Employee’s back pain after May 30, 2008, was the same as it was prior to his injury, the “ongoing process of degenerative disc disease and facet arthritis” (id. at 27).  Dr. Yodlowski opined the 1992 surgery probably did not have a direct effect on any subsequent low back condition because the prior surgery and discectomy were “healed up” (id. at 27-28).  In Dr. Yodlowski’s opinion, the May 30, 2008 injury caused only a “sprain/strain” to the low back, and she has never heard of a lumbar sprain/strain causing retrograde ejaculation.  Accordingly, though conceding she is not a urologist, in her opinion Employee’s retrograde ejaculation was not caused by the work injury (id. at 31).  

61) Dr. Yodlowski believes the AMA Guides 6th Edition is a “little murky” because in one place it says impairment is not rated based on “degenerative changes,” but on the other hand it provides ratings for surgeries for intervertebral disc “herniations,” which in her understanding are predominantly caused by degenerative changes, which are age and genetically caused 
(id. at 26, 33-34).  On cross-examination, Dr. Yodlowski admitted Employee’s urological condition could be a result of his surgery on the low back using an anterior approach (id. at 39-40).  In her review of MRI scan reports from December 3, 2003, and June 3, 2008, Dr. Yodlowski opined the protrusion shown on each are “similar” as they are in the same location, same side, same place, at the same disc (id. at 40).  Dr. Yodlowski could not, however, comment on the size of the herniation because she did not have the June 2003 MRI to review (id. at 41).  She acknowledged an earlier attending physician in June 2009, noted right extensor hallucis longus weakness as evidence of radiculopathy (id.).  Dr. Yodlowski also agreed Dr. Bald on his examination noted evidence of radiculopathy and she did not necessarily disagree with Dr. Bald’s conclusion (id. at 44).  She disputed “activities of daily living,” which could cause a damaged disc to herniate, were “trauma” in the “medical sense” (id.).  Dr. Yodlowski opined “turning over in bed” or “sitting down at your desk chair” are considered “normal daily activities” and can cause a damaged or abnormal disc to herniate (id. at 47).  She was unaware of any evidence Employee had symptoms of radiculopathy prior to the May 30, 2008 work related injury (id. at 47-48).

62) At times during her testimony, Dr. Yodlowski appeared to advocate for Employer rather than provide impartial medical opinions.  For example, during questioning on direct examination concerning retrograde ejaculation, Dr. Yodlowski conceded she was not a urologist, but nevertheless offered she had never heard of a “lumbar sprain/strain” causing retrograde ejaculation, did not consider her diagnosis of Employee’s work-related condition could be in error and thus did not address whether spinal surgery with an anterior approach could cause retrograde ejaculation, and yet offered it was unlikely Employee’s retrograde ejaculation was caused by his work injury.  Similarly, during her explanation of “spontaneous” herniations and what constitutes “trauma,” Dr. Yodlowski minimized the effect lifting heavy fire hoses could have on an abnormal lumbar disc, and maximized the effect lifting a pencil could have on a similar disc, and appeared to advocate for a particular position favorable to Employer (id. at 55-67).

63) On the other hand, Dr. Yodlowski conceded on page 27 of her EME report the May 2008 injury was the substantial cause of Employee’s “symptoms,” based upon his history.  She also opined the treatment Employee received to address his symptoms was reasonable and necessary 
(id. at 61).

64) As found above, in her EME report, Dr. Yodlowski was asked to comment on, and accordingly addressed, whether the May 30, 2008 work injury was the substantial cause of Employee’s underlying degenerative “conditions” at L4-5 and L5-S1, as opposed to addressing whether Employee’s employment with Employer was the substantial cause of any disability or need for medical treatment to Employee’s low back (Dr. Yodlowski’s EME report, June 8, 2010 
at 25-28).

65) In her EME report, and in her deposition, Dr. Yodlowski referred to published literature she argued supported her testimony.  Specifically, she testified recent studies show heredity and genetics, not work activities or environmental factors, are the most important factor identified as the causes of disc herniations (Yodlowski deposition at 26-27).

66) The studies to which Dr. Yodlowski referred were a retrospective cohort study of identical twins done in 1995, and a literature review summary of prior studies, by the same authors, done in 2004.  The 1995 study dealt with “disc degeneration,” and did not specifically discuss disc herniation (Battie, Determinants Of Lumbar Disc Degeneration, Spine, vol. 20, no. 24, 
pp 2601 --2612 (1995)).  The 2004 literature review article also primarily addressed degenerative disc disease, rather than herniation, but nonetheless noted “single-level severe narrowing” of a lumbar disc “is more likely to reflect a traumatic or biomechanical origin rather than a systemic origin,” and further noted “most studies have found an association between heavy physical loading and disc degeneration” (Battie, Lumbar Disc Degeneration, Spine, vol. 29, no. 24, pp 2670-2690, at 2670, 2683 (2004)).

67) The two referenced articles were not particularly helpful in this case involving a herniated disc with a free fragment at L5-S1 and the effect the collapse of the disc space at L5-S1 and associated surgery to correct the collapse had on the adjacent L4-5 level (record).

68) On August 17, 2010, urologist Lawrence Strawbridge, M.D., evaluated Employee for retrograde ejaculation, noting a history of this following disc replacement surgery.  Dr. Strawbridge opined Employee had retrograde ejaculation because of a disturbance of the “hypogastric plexus” or “sympathetic chain.”  He noted “this is not unexpected in surgery at this location” 
(Dr. Strawbridge’s report, August 17, 2010).

69) Employee’s retrograde ejaculation condition was caused by the surgery at L5-S1 (Strawbridge).

70) At hearing on August 19, 2010, Employee’s wife Deborah Hanson testified she has been married to Employee for over 20 years.  Prior to his May 30, 2008 work-related injury, Employee was very active, hiked, fished, trained dogs and had no apparent difficulties physically performing his work as a fire captain (D. Hanson).  After Employee’s first surgery for this injury, he did well for a few days and then had a problem.  She heard Employee say, “uh, that didn’t feel good” when he felt discomfort in his back and his symptoms resumed.  Timothy Cohen, M.D., suggested disc replacement surgery at L5-S1 and “offered” that surgery.  Ms. Hanson was involved in the decision to go to California to see Dr. Delamarter because Dr. Cohen had done only 25 artificial disc replacements, and in her opinion as a registered nurse for over 21 years, 50 to 60 procedures is considered “competent” (id.).

71) An additional concern was Dr. Cohen’s assistant surgeons were general surgeons, and Dr. Cohen told her he’d had difficulties selecting an assistant surgeon so he switched to Dr. O’Malley who had done about half of Dr. Cohen’s anterior approach, artificial disc replacements.  Ms. Hanson was aware, as a registered nurse with operating room and emergency room background, of the difference between general surgeons and vascular surgeons, the latter dealing strictly with “vascular access” including getting around arteries and other delicate physiological structures.  She was also aware from her own research Dr. Delamarter had done over 400 such surgeries and used a vascular surgeon as an assistant (id.).

72) As a nurse, Ms. Hanson worked side-by-side with Dr. Cohen “tons,” and does not think he is competent in artificial disc replacement surgery at this time (id.)

73) At hearing on August 19, 2010, Employee testified he recovered completely from his 1992 work-related injury suffered in Utah.  In respect to the instant work-related injury, Employee convincingly testified he returned to work following his disc replacement surgery, in January 2010 to full duty and had no problems affecting his ability to perform his job.  Though he has no pain, his physicians advised him he has muscle atrophy, muscle weakness, “nerve issues,” and he is personally aware of damage to nerves causing him to suffer retrograde ejaculation (B. Hanson).

74) Dr. Tolbert referred Employee to Dr. Cohen to discuss L5-S1 disc replacement surgery.  Employee and his wife did their own research on the topic.  Employee felt uncomfortable with Dr. Cohen because when he made his disc replacement recommendation, he had not reviewed any medical records, but had only reviewed Employee’s films for about two minutes before offering disc replacement surgery.  Employee got the impression Dr. Cohen was giving “a sales pitch” (id.).

75) Employee’s counsel billed at $350 per hour for himself, and $150 per hour for his paralegal (Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs for Services Since August 11, 2010, September 20, 2010).

76) Employee did not specify which section of AS 23.30.145 he relied upon for his fee claim (id.; record).

77) In total, Employee itemized and requested actual fees totaling $39,477.50 and costs of $2,389.14 (id.).

78) Employee requested double actual fees based upon his assertion this is “primarily a medical claim” (Employee’s Hearing brief, August 10, 2010, at 11).

79) Employee’s counsel’s $350.00 per hour and his paralegal’s $150.00 per hour rates for legal services are reasonable and consistent with rates charged by other claimant attorneys and their paralegals with similar experience in these cases (experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above). 
80) Employee’s counsel’s itemized fee and cost affidavits provide sufficient detail and clarity to determine whether the fees and costs were reasonably incurred, in accordance with the law (experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above).
81) Employee’s counsel’s paralegal’s time spent observing a physician’s deposition without participating in it is unreasonable and unnecessary as an expense chargeable to Employer (experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above).     
82) Employer objected to Employee’s counsel’s hourly rates both for himself and for his paralegal, and objected to his travel to attend Dr. Tapper’s deposition (Objection to Employee’s Attorney’s Fees and Costs Request, September 24, 2010).

83) Employee’s lawyer’s attendance at Dr. Tapper’s deposition was reasonable (record; experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above).
84) Employer did not object to Employee’s costs of $2,389.14 (record).
85) Employer vigorously resisted Employee’s claim by hiring more than one EME and by deposing several attending, EME and SIME physicians (record).

86) The length of legal services provided in this case is about average for a case of this complexity (record; experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above).
87) Should Employee prevail on his primary claim concerning compensability of his L4-5 surgery, he benefits by having his medical bills paid by Employer and stands to potentially benefit significantly with a possibility of future entitlement to more medical care, transportation expenses, disability, impairment and associated ancillary benefits related to that injury (record; experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above).
88) Employee’s claim is not “primarily a medical claim” (record; experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above).
89) Employee requests fees under AS 23.30.145(b) (record; experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above).
90) After the hearing, but before the hearing record closed, Employer controverted “all benefits related to retrograde ejaculation” based upon Dr. Yodlowski’s EME report (Controversion Notice, September 17, 2010).

91) The prior lumbar surgery from the 1992 injury, subsequent lumbar surgery related to the instant injury, followed by lumbar fusion at L5-S1 and artificial disc replacement at L4-5, and retrograde ejaculation by nature make this a medically complex case, requiring equally complex legal services (record; experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case and inferences drawn from all the above).

92) Thomas Gritzka, M.D., is a Board-certified orthopedic surgeon on the SIME list who is familiar with the Guides 6th Edition and has provided many useful PPI ratings in complex cases in the past (experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above).  
93) James Downey, M.D., is a Board-certified urologist on the SIME list who is familiar with the Guides 6th Edition and has broad expertise in male reproductive organs, nerves and bladders (experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above). 
94) Employee incurred approximately $57,160.00 in medical expenses related to his low-back surgery, subject of this claim (Employee’s Affidavit of Services, March 2, 2010). 
95) The interest rate in effect for 2008 injuries is 7.75% per annum (official notice).    
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) This chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) Worker’s compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute. . . .

Under the Act, coverage is established by work connection, and the test of work connection is, if accidental injury is connected with any of incidents of one’s employment, then the injury both would “arise out of” and be “in the course of” employment.  The “arising out of” and the “in the course of” tests should not be kept in separate compartments but should be merged into a single concept of “work connection.”  Northern Corp. v. Saari, 409 P.2d 845 (Alaska 1966).  

AS 23.30.005.  Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.
. . .

(h) The department shall adopt rules . . . and shall adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter. . . .  Process and procedure under this chapter shall be as summary and simple as possible. . . .

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-534 (Alaska 1987).  Inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee’s favor.  Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1190 (Alaska 1984); Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., 617 P.2d 755, 758 (Alaska 1980); Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978); Beauchamp v. Employers Liability Assurance Co., 477 P.2d 933, 996-997 (Alaska 1970).  Less weight may be given to a physician who appears to be advocating for a party.  Geister v. Kid’s Corps, AWCB Decision No. 08-0258 at 30 (December 29, 2008).  See also Hill v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 86-0136 at 13, n. 1 (June 7, 1986); Dickman v. Providence Washington Insurance Group, AWCB Case No. 87-0015 (January 21, 1987).  

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.  Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability . . . or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability . . . or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment.  To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment.  A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the . . . disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment.  When determining whether or not the . . . disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability . . . or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability . . . or need for medical treatment. . . . 

“Semantical confusion” will not prevent the board from using medical testimony to support a claim for medical benefits if the physician’s opinion is understood as conveying the opinion sought.  Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065, 1075 (Alaska 1997).  Legal principles applying to this case include: Wilson v. Erickson, 477 P.2d 1988 (Alaska 1970) (a preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim under the work-connection requirement if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought).  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981) (the question of whether employment aggravated or accelerated a preexisting disease or injury is one of fact to be determined by the board).  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987) (to prove an aggravation or exacerbation of a preexisting condition, the claimant need only prove that “but for” the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.  In other words, to satisfy the “but for” test, the claimant need only prove, as indicated above, the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor (or “the substantial cause” under current law) in the resulting disability).  Hester v. State, Public Employees’ Retirement Board, 817 P.2d 472, 476 (Alaska 1991) (for the purpose of determining whether an underlying disease has been aggravated by a work injury, there is not a distinction between worsening of the underlying disease process and worsening of the symptoms).  

AS 23.30.030.  Required policy provisions.  A policy of a company insuring the payment of compensation under this chapter is considered to contain the provisions set out in this section.

(1) The insurer assumes in full all the obligations to pay . . . transportation charges to the nearest point where adequate medical facilities are available . . . imposed upon the insured under the provisions of this chapter. . . .

Alcan Electric v. Bringmann, 829 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1992) dealt with an injured worker’s request for transportation out-of-state for several medical procedures offered individually in Anchorage by at least one physician.  The parties agreed “an employee is entitled to out of state medical treatment when equally beneficial treatment is not available in the employee’s home state” (id. at 1189).  See 2 A. Larson, The Law of Workmen’s Compensation §61.13(b)(2) (1989).  Bringmann cited Braewood Convalescent Hospital v. Worker’s Compensation Appeals Board, 666 P.2d 14, 20 (Cal. 1983), which held “the employer must present evidence demonstrating the availability of a similar, or equally effective program in a more limited geographic area closer to [the injured worker’s] domicile” to avoid paying additional transportation expenses out-of-state.  Noting a 1988 amendment to the Act deleted the requirement an injured worker designate a licensed physician “in the state” meant the legislature intended to drop the “parochial view” adequate medical treatment is always available in Alaska, Bringmann held: “If a doctor does not provide an option to the patient, regardless of the doctor’s skill level, the option is unavailable to that patient.”  Since the employer failed to show any local surgeon offered all six surgical procedures to the employee, as did the outside surgeon, it “failed to demonstrate that ‘adequate medical facilities’ were available within the state” (id. at 1189).

Bermel v. Banner Health Systems, AWCB Decision No. 08-0239 (December 5, 2008), awarded medical transportation expenses to an injured worker who flew from Fairbanks to Anchorage for back surgery.  Bermel’s record showed although the lumbar fusion surgery the employee actually had was available in Fairbanks, the surgery his Anchorage surgeon planned to do, the interbody fusion, was not available in Fairbanks.  According to the employee’s operative report, the Anchorage surgeon’s decision not to perform the planned interbody fusion surgery was made during surgery, based on the employee’s lumbar spine condition visualized at surgery.  Based on the surgeon’s plan to perform a surgical procedure not available in Fairbanks, Bermel held adequate or similar and equally effective medical facilities were not available in Fairbanks, even though the Anchorage surgeon ultimately did not perform the planned surgery.

Jacobson v. JL Properties, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 08-0198 (October 30, 2008), awarded medical transportation expenses to an injured worker who flew from Fairbanks to Seattle for carpal tunnel surgery where the employee’s attending physician referred the employee to a “major medical center” for the procedure, which in addition to the standard carpal tunnel syndrome also involved cysts and a cartilage tear.  Jacobson relied upon Cummings v. Twin Manufacturing, Inc., 614 A.22d 857, 862 (Conn. App. 1992), which stressed the significance of such medical centers and said:

Certain areas, such as Boston and New York, have become centers for medical research and advanced treatment techniques. Some hospitals or clinics have developed expertise in specific fields of research unmatched by any other in the country.  This is not to disparage the quality of medical care available within the boundaries of our state, but merely to recognize that increasingly and technologically complex practice of medicine requires extensive capital investment and specially trained staffs which it would be economically unfeasible and wasteful to duplicate within any one geographical area.

Jacobson inferred from the employee’s doctor’s referral to a major medical center, the attending physician’s opinion that adequate, similar, or equally effective care was not available in Fairbanks (id. at 9).

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . . 

. . .

(k) In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation . . . or compensability between the employee’s attending physician and the employer’s independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded.

An employer shall furnish an employee injured at work any medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or process of recovery requires” within the first two years of the injury.  The medical treatment must be “reasonable and necessitated” by the work-related injury.  Thus, when the board reviews an injured employee’s claim for medical treatment made within two years of an injury that is indisputably work-related, “its review is limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary.”  Philip Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727, 730 (Alaska 1999).  An injured worker is also entitled to a prospective determination of whether his injury is compensable, regardless of any pending claim for medical care or other benefits.  Summers v. Korobkin Construction, 814 P.2d 1369 (Alaska 1991).

AS 23.30.110.  Procedure on claims. . . . .

. . .

(g) An injured employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician, which the board may require.  The place or places shall be reasonably convenient for the employee. . . .   

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).  It also applies to the question of medical transportation expenses.  Alcan v. Bringmann, 
829 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1992).  Bringmann did not specifically discuss how the presumption applicable to medical transportation expenses could be overcome, but cited from Braewood, 
666 P.2d 14, 20, “the employer must present evidence demonstrating the availability of a similar, or equally effective program in a more limited geographic area closer to [the injured worker’s] domicile.”  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.  Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991).  

The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the claim and his employment.  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability or other claim for benefits and the employment (Burgess Construction, 
623 P.2d at 316), or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability (Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991)).  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).
Second, once the preliminary link is established, the presumption is raised and attaches to the claim; the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence the injury is not work related, or the claimed benefit is somehow not compensable.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 

(1) Produce substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability;

or 

(2)  Directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.  

Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.   Employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to Employee’s evidence (id. at 1055).  Therefore, credibility questions and weight accorded Employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if Employer produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption Employee’s injury entitles him to benefits.  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994); citing Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).  

To overcome the presumption applicable to medical transportation expenses, Employer must present evidence a doctor closer to Employee’s domicile considered or recommended the procedure performed by the California physicians.  Cadd v. Ron’s Oilfield Services, AWCB Decision No. 93-0079 (March 26, 1993).

If Employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, or, in appropriate cases not involving “work-relatedness,” produces evidence the requested benefit is somehow not compensable, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1381; citing Miller v. ITT Services, 577 P 2d. 1044, 1046.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Miller, 577 P.2d at 1049.  The same standard is used in determining whether Employer rebutted the §120 presumption 
(id. at 1046).  

AS 23.30.122. Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

AS 23.30.145.  Attorney fees.  (a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . . 


(b) If an employer . . . otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Subsection 145(a) authorizes attorney’s fees as a percentage of the amount of benefits awarded to an employee when an employer controverts a claim.  An award under §145(a) may include continuing fees on future benefits.  By contrast, §145(b) requires an employer to pay reasonable attorney’s fees when the employer delays or “otherwise resists” payment of compensation and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecutes his claim.  Harnish Group, Inc. v. Moore, 
160 P.3d 146, 150 (Alaska 2007).  Attorney’s fees in workers’ compensation cases should be fully compensatory and reasonable so injured workers have competent counsel available to them. Cortay v. Silver Bay Logging, 787 P.2d 103, 108 (Alaska 1990).  “Double” actual fees may be awarded as “reasonable attorney fees” in cases involving little incentive for lawyers to represent injured workers, such as cases involving only claims for medical treatment following the employee’s release of other benefits through settlement.  Taylor v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Decision No. 09-0021 (February 3, 2009).  See also, Allberg v. Wallner Excavating, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 09-0164 (November 4, 2009).

AS 23.30.155.  Payment of compensation. . . .

. . .

(h) The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which payments are being made with or without an award, where right to compensation is controverted, or where payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, upon receipt of notice from a person entitled to compensation, or from the employer, that the right to compensation is controverted, or that payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

Regulation 8 AAC 45.090(b) provides for orders requiring Employer to pay for Employee’s medical examination pursuant to §095(k) or §110(g).  Section 095(k) and §110(g) are procedural in nature, not substantive, for the reasons outlined in Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 (July 23, 1997) at 3; see also Harvey v. Cook Inlet Pipe Line Co., AWCB Decision No. 98-0076 (March 26, 1998).  Considering the broad procedural discretion granted in §135(a) and §155(h), wide discretion exists under AS 23.30.110(g) to consider any evidence available when deciding whether to order an SIME or other medical examination to assist in investigating and deciding medical issues in contested claims, to best “protect the rights of the parties.”

AS 23.30.395.  Definitions.  In this chapter,

. . .

(2) ‘arising out of and in the course of employment’ includes employer-required or supplied travel to and from a remote job site; activities performed at the direction or under the control of the employer; and employer-sanctioned activities at employer-provided facilities; . . . .

. . .

(24) ‘injury’ means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment, and an occupational disease or infection that arises naturally out of the employment or that naturally or unavoidably results from an accidental 
injury; . . . .

. . .

(26) ‘medical and related benefits’ includes but is not limited to . . . transportation charges to the nearest point where adequate medical facilities are available. . . .

8 AAC 45.084.  Medical travel expenses.  (a) This section applies to expenses to be paid by the employer to an employee who is receiving or has received medical treatment.

(b) Transportation expenses include

(1) a mileage rate, for the use of a private automobile, equal to the rate the state reimburses its supervisory employees for travel on the given date if the usage is reasonably related to the medical examination or treatment;

(2) the actual fare for public transportation if reasonably incident to the medical examination or treatment; and

. . .


(c) It is the responsibility of the employee to use the most reasonable and efficient means of transportation under the circumstances.  If the employer demonstrates at a hearing that the employee failed to use the most reasonable and efficient means of transportation under the circumstances, the board may direct the employer to pay the more reasonable rate rather than the actual rate.


(d) Transportation expenses, in the form of reimbursement for mileage, which are incurred in the course of treatment or examination are payable when 100 miles or more have accumulated, or upon completion of medical care, whichever occurs first. . . .

8 AAC 45.142.  Interest.  (a)  If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an  Injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b) The employer shall pay the interest

(1) on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee. . . .

. . .

(2) on late-paid medical benefits to 

(A) the employee . . . if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits; 

(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 

(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

 The Alaska Supreme Court explained how interest is calculated and applied in workers’ compensation cases in several decisions.  See Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electric Association, 860 P.2d 1184 (Alaska 1993).   

8 AAC 45.180.  Costs and attorney’s fees.

. . .


(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; the attorney may submit an application for adjustment of claim or a petition.  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing, the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed. . . . .

 . . .

(d) The board will award a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) only to an attorney licensed to practice law under the laws of this or another state.

(1) A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .  Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney’s right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under AS 23.30.145(a), if AS 23.30.145(a) is applicable to the claim, unless the board determines that good cause exists to excuse the failure to comply with this section.


(2) In awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved. . . .

. . .

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs. . . .

. . .

(14) fees for the services of a paralegal or law clerk. . . .

8 AAC 45.182.  Controversion.  (a) To controvert a claim the employer shall file form 07-6105 in accordance with AS 23.30.155(a) and shall serve a copy of the notice of controversion upon all parties in accordance with 8 AAC 45.060. . . .

. . .


(e) For purposes of this section, the term ‘compensation due,’ and for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o), the term ‘compensation due under this chapter,’ are terms that mean the benefits sought by the employee, including but not limited to disability, medical, and reemployment benefits, and whether paid or unpaid at the time the controversion was filed.

ANALYSIS

1) Did Employee’s need for medical treatment at the L4-5 spinal level arise out of and in the course of his employment with Employer?

This issue involves factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption his need for medical treatment at the L4-5 spinal level arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.  Employee raised the presumption through the testimony of Dr. Tapper who opined the work-related injury affecting the L5-S1 disc level also affected the L4-5 disc level, requiring disc replacement surgery, as set forth above.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing his need for medical treatment at the L4-5 spinal level arose out of and in the course of his May 30, 2008 work-related injury, and the §120 presumption attaches to this part of Employee’s claim.
In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability as to Employee’s claim any need for medical treatment at L4-5 arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.  Employer overcame the presumption through Dr. Yodlowski’s testimony opining Employee only suffered a temporary, lumbar strain as a result of his injury and thus the surgery L4-5 had nothing to do with the May 30, 2008 work-related injury.

In the third step of the presumption analysis, given Employer successfully rebutted the raised presumption, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of his claim his need for medical treatment at L4-5 arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer by a “preponderance of the evidence.”  The weight of credible lay and medical evidence preponderates in Employee’s favor.

Dr. Bald opined as a consequence of Employee’s work-related disc herniation at L5-S1, and appropriate surgical treatment at that level, Employee developed a progression of “degenerative disc space” at the L5-S1 level “with collapse.”  On November 19, 2008, Employee reported to Dr. Tolbert he did well for about seven days following his 2008 surgery when he felt a pop in his low back and significant low back pain.  Employee noted a fairly sudden onset of increased back pain. On November 19, 2008, a repeat MRI showed new, mild disc bulging and degenerative changes at L4-5 with mild, bilateral neuroforaminal narrowing, when compared to earlier MRI reports.

In his deposition, Dr. Tapper convincingly testified Employee’s May 2008 injury caused a large disc at L5-S1, which led to an L5-S1 laminectomy in October 2008.  Employee was fine for a few days after surgery; however, subsequently something “popped” in Employee’s back and he immediately had back and leg pain.  This led to a second MRI, which showed the L5-S1 disc space collapse and changes at L4-5, including a new disc bulge.  Conservative treatment did not resolve the condition, which led to an L5-S1 fusion and an L4-5 artificial disc replacement.  Dr. Delamarter performed the May 2009 surgery and Employee returned to full duty work on January 1, 2010, with an excellent result except for the retrograde ejaculation complication.  Dr. Tapper credibly testified the treatment Employee received at both L5-S1 and L4-5 were related to the 2008 work-related injury.  Aware of the dispute regarding whether the 2008 work-related injury was the substantial cause of the need for the second surgery at L4-5, he reviewed Employee’s case with spinal surgeon Mike Fry, who concurred with his and Dr. Delamarter’s opinion the need for treatment at L4-5 was due to the 2008 work-related injury.

Other potential contributing causes of the need for medical treatment arising from the L4-5 spinal segment include Dr. Yodlowski’s opinion it was spontaneous and arose from a genetic predisposition superimposed on an abnormal disc.  Less weight is given to Dr. Yodlowski’s opinions, and she is not considered credible.  Her deposition testimony based upon a one-time evaluation tends toward advocacy on Employer’s behalf.  She repeatedly minimized any effect the physical loading Employee experienced at the time of his May 30, 2008 injury, lifting and twisted fire hoses, could have on his previously degenerated discs, while emphasizing how picking up a pencil was equally likely to herniate an abnormal disc.  Dr. Yodlowski also appeared to advocate for Employer by offering an opinion about retrograde ejaculation, which is not in her area of expertise.  Case law provides discretionary, reduced weighing of testimony from witnesses who are advocates for a party.

Further, Dr. Yodlowski was asked to comment on, and consequently commented upon, whether Employee’s work-related injury caused his underlying “condition” of degenerative disc disease.  However, this is not the correct medical-legal test.  The law does not require Employee to prove his employment was the substantial cause of his underlying “condition” or any aggravation of an underlying “condition.”  The coverage statute, in which the substantial cause test is found, never uses the word “condition.”  To the contrary, benefits are payable in a claim, and a claim for “disability” or “medical treatment” is compensable under the Act if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause “of the disability” or “need for medical treatment.”  The work injury does not have to cause of the underlying condition or any aggravation of that condition for there to be a compensable injury arising out of and in the course of employment.  The Alaska Supreme Court specifically disapproved the distinction between worsening of an underlying condition and worsening of symptoms, and declared compensable “injuries” include the latter.

In this case, it is medically undisputed, with exception of Dr. Yodlowski’s opinion, which is given little credible weight, Employee’s May 30, 2008 work injury was the substantial cause of the disc herniation at L5-S1.  The weight of the expert opinions further shows the collapse of the disc space at L5-S1 affected the adjacent L4-5 disc space, caused it to become symptomatic, which required treatment to stabilize that level and address Employee’s persistent low back pain and symptoms, post-surgery.  Under the Act, coverage is established by work connection, and the test of work connection is, if accidental injury is connected with any of incidents of one’s employment, then the injury would both “arise out of” and be “in the course of” employment.  Accordingly, taking into account any and all contributions from other possible causes of the need for medical care associated with the L4-5 spinal segment, Employee’s need for medical treatment at the L4-5 spinal level arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.
2) Was Employee’s employment with Employer the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment attributable to the L4-5 spinal level?

This issue involves factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption his employment with Employer was the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment attributable to the L4-5 spinal level.  Employee raised the presumption through the testimony of Dr. Tapper who opined the work-related injury affecting the L5-S1 disc level also affected the L4-5 disc level, requiring disc replacement surgery at L4-5, as set forth above.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing his employment with Employer was the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment attributable to the L4-5 spinal level, and the §120 presumption attaches to this part of Employee’s claim.

In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability as to Employee’s claim his employment with Employer was the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment attributable to the L4-5 spinal level.  Employer overcame the presumption through Dr. Yodlowski’s testimony opining the surgery at L4-5 had nothing to do with the 
May 30, 2008 work-related injury.

In the third step of the presumption analysis, given Employer successfully rebutted the raised presumption, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of his claim his employment with Employer was the substantial cause of any need for medical treatment attributable to the L4-5 spinal level by a “preponderance of the evidence.”  The weight of credible lay and medical evidence again preponderates in Employee’s favor.  Prior to and immediately after the May 30, 2008 work-related injury, Employee’s L4-5 disc was “normal” according to objective MRI scans and there is no evidence he had symptoms related to that disc level.  However, very shortly after his 2008 L5-S1 surgery, Employee felt a “pop” and a “give” in his back and experienced increasing and persisting symptoms.  A subsequent MRI scan showed new findings at L4-5, which at least two competent physicians, including the SIME doctor, opined caused these symptoms and required additional surgery at L5-S1 and disc replacement surgery at the adjacent L4-5 level to stabilize Employee’s spine.

Other than Dr. Yodlowski’s opinion genetics plays a greater role in disc degeneration than physical loading, which is given less credible weight for the reason discussed above, there are really no other credible contributions to the need for treatment to the L4-5 disc level.  Most doctors agreed “disc degeneration” is a gradual process.  But Employee’s L4-5 disc was objectively “normal” before the adjacent L5-S1 disc space collapsed as a result of this injury superimposed upon the prior injury in 1992 to the same level.  It is highly improbable normal “degeneration” over time or “genetics” caused Employee’s previously “normal” L4-5 disc to need medical treatment only months after his post-injury surgery at L5-S1.  By contrast, SIME Dr. Tapper opined the substantial cause of the need to replace the L4-5 disc was the May 30, 2008 injury, which caused the L5-S1 disc to collapse.  Consequently, evaluating the relative contribution of possible causes for the need for medical care at L4-5, the facts show the employment injury of May 30, 2008 was the substantial cause of the need for medical care at that level.  Consequently, Employer will be ordered to pay medical benefits related to the L4-5 disc replacement surgery (but as discussed below, not medical transportation expenses to California).  Jurisdiction is retained to resolve any disputes.

3) Is Employee entitled to an additional PPI award?

This issue involves factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  However, the presumption will not be applied to the PPI issue at this time.  Employee argued at hearing another rating may be needed because it is unclear Employee’s nerve issue causing retrograde ejaculation was properly calculated into the PPI rating.  Similarly, Employer argued at hearing the PPI rating “may need to be clarified.”  SIME Dr. Tapper conceded he was unfamiliar with the Guides 6th Edition.  The medical record does not clearly show Employee’s retrograde ejaculation condition has been evaluated for PPI purposes.  Consequently, there is a gap in the medical evidence addressing PPI, which bears directly on the parties’ rights.  In short, the proper PPI rating in this case remains elusive and unclear.  

This issue is further complicated by the fact Employer did not controvert retrograde ejaculation until after the hearing, but before the record closed.  The PPI rating, which ostensibly addressed this retrograde ejaculation condition, was at issue at the August 19, 2010 hearing, but the parties presented little argument or medical evidence concerning this condition.  However, it is also not clear the parties were adequately noticed and prepared to present evidence and argue compensability of retrograde ejaculation at the August 19, 2010 hearing, because before Employer controverted it, compensability of Employee’s retrograde ejaculation was not really an issue.  

Therefore, to provide all parties due process on this issue, to best ascertain the parties’ rights, to ensure the PPI issue is correctly decided on its merits, and to make this process as fair, predictable and summary as possible at a reasonable cost to Employer, another PPI rating evaluation will be ordered, pursuant to §110(g) and §155(h).  This PPI evaluation will include an orthopedic surgeon familiar with the AMA Guides 6th Edition and a urologist who can weigh in on the compensability of, and any related PPI rating for, the retrograde ejaculation condition.  

Experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of this case, and inferences drawn from all of the above, show Thomas Gritzka, M.D., is a Board-certified orthopedic surgeon on the SIME list who frequently comes to Anchorage, which will reduce expenses, is familiar with the Guides 6th Edition and has provided many useful PPI ratings in medically complex cases in the past.  He is selected to perform another evaluation and PPI rating focusing primarily on orthopedic issues involving the 1992 injury and this injury.  Experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of this case, and inferences drawn from all of the above show James Downey, M.D., is a Board-certified urologist on the SIME list, who has broad experience with male reproductive organs, nerves, and bladders.  He too is selected to perform an evaluation on Employee and offer opinions concerning compensability of the retrograde ejaculation condition and any related PPI.  Dr. Gritzka will also be asked to combine any PPI rating attributable to the retrograde ejaculation condition derived by Dr. Downey with any PPI Dr. Gritzka attributes to relevant orthopedic conditions, pursuant to the Guides 6th Edition.

A Workers’ Compensation Officer will be directed to hold a prehearing conference within 30 days of this decision to set the procedures and any deadlines for this medical evaluation.  Jurisdiction is retained over this part of Employee’s claim.

4) Must Employer pay transportation expenses to California as the nearest point where adequate medical facilities were available for Employee’s May 2009 low back surgery?

This issue involves factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  Employee contends Employer must pay his travel expenses to California for his 2009 back surgery because adequate medical facilities were not available in Alaska.  In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption adequate medical facilities were not available in Alaska through his own testimony and testimony of Dr. Cohen and Dr. Bald.  Employee and Dr. Cohen testified Dr. Cohen does not use a vascular surgeon for the preliminary surgery needed to move abdominal contents out of the way for the anterior approach used to perform lumbar, artificial disc replacement surgery.  EME Dr. Bald testified it is “way more complicated” and “considerably more difficult” to do an anterior approach to artificial disc replacement surgery, than it is to perform regular lumbar surgery, and complications are potentially much higher for the anterior procedure because a little cut in the peritoneum, or too much pressure on the bowel can cause serious complications.  Vascular surgeons perform this approach “all the time” for their vascular procedures and have “a lot more experience doing that kind of approach” than do orthopedic surgeons.  In Employee’s case, a vascular surgeon performed preliminary work of moving abdominal contents, the iliac arteries and aorta, the iliac veins, and the iliolumbar vein to expose the spine’s anterior surface at L4-5 and L5-S1.  There is no evidence any Alaska surgeon performs artificial disc replacement surgery with assistance from a vascular surgeon.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing adequate medical facilities were not available in Alaska for the surgery he had in California, and the §120 presumption attaches to this part of Employee’s claim.

In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer successfully rebutted the presumption of compensability as to Employee’s claim adequate medical facilities were not available in Alaska for the surgery he had in California through Dr. Cohen’s testimony he has successfully done fusions at L5-S1 followed by artificial disc replacement surgery at L4-5, using general surgeons as assistants.

In the third step of the presumption analysis, given Employer successfully rebutted the raised presumption, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all elements of his claim adequate medical facilities were not available in Alaska for the surgery he had in California by a preponderance of the evidence.    The Alaska Supreme Court stated an employee is entitled to out-of-state medical treatment when “equally beneficial treatment” is not available in the employee’s home state.  Though Dr. Cohen has done fusions at L5-S1, followed by artificial disc replacement surgery at L4-5 using the same techniques as Dr. Delamarter, there is no evidence any surgeon in Alaska uses a vascular surgeon to perform the preliminary operation needed to expose the patient’s lumbar spine from the front, or that any Alaska physician offered to use a vascular surgeon for Employee’s surgery.  EME Dr. Bald testified abdominal veins are much more friable than arteries, and a torn vein would be “just about be as disastrous as a ruptured artery, but it can happen more easily.”   Vascular surgeons work with veins and arteries all the time.  On the other hand, there is no evidence using a general surgeon is inappropriate, dangerous, or falls below the standard of care of surgeons performing these operations.

If EME Dr. Bald were personally going to have this procedure done, he would want it done “by somebody who does it all the time because it’s technically very demanding.”  He testified it “was very reasonable” for Employee to go to California for this procedure noting the relative newness of this procedure and its technical difficulty.  Obviously, someone who performs this procedure regularly is technically going to do it better than someone who only does a few a year.  Dr. Bald thought “chances of having a really good result are higher when you go somewhere with somebody who’s . . . really experienced,” and “statistically,” Employee’s “odds of a better result are better going there” than having it done in Alaska.  Clearly, there is nobody in Alaska who has “anywhere near the experience” doing artificial disc replacement surgery as Dr. Delamarter.  On the other hand, there is no medical evidence, other than Employee’s wife’s subjective opinion, Dr. Cohen is not competent and capable of performing this same procedure, successfully, using a general surgeon as an assistant.  In other words, there is no medical evidence Dr. Cohen’s care is not “adequate.”
Though Dr. Delamarter is arguably the functional equivalent of a “major medical center” with highly specialized expertise in this particular surgery, with experience far beyond what was available in Alaska at the time Employee had his procedures performed, the law does not require Employer to pay transportation to the nearest point where “the best” medical facilities are available, or where the world’s top expert may provide services; it only requires Employer to pay transportation to the nearest point where “adequate” medical facilities are available.  Dr. Cohen has performed this same procedure, over 100 times, using the same approach, supplies, and medical techniques with evidence of generally favorable results.  In contrast to some prior decisions, in this case Employee’s first, post-injury surgeon referred Employee to Dr. Cohen, thus implying an opinion he believed Dr. Cohen was competent, capable, and “adequate.”  

Though Employee cannot be faulted for wanting to have, in his mind, the best artificial disc replacement surgeon and assistant perform his surgery, the law does not require Employer to pay for the transportation expenses related to his desire for the best, under this case’s circumstances.  Dr. Cohen offered Employee the same surgery here in Anchorage, the only difference being the use of a general surgeon rather than a vascular surgeon as an assistant.  Employee has not shown by a preponderance of the evidence the use of a general surgeon versus a vascular surgeon as an assistant takes Dr. Cohen’s proffered procedure out of the realm of “adequate” and “available.”  The preponderance of the medical evidence does not support Employee’s claim adequate medical facilities were not available in Alaska for the surgery he had in California.  Furthermore, the law requires the Act be interpreted to provide benefits in a “fair” manner at a “reasonable cost to employers.”  Under this case’s facts, it would be unfair and would require an unreasonable additional cost to require Employer to pay for a surgical treatment available in Anchorage at an “adequate” medical facility.  Accordingly, Employer will not be ordered to pay for Employee’s travel to California for his May 2009 surgery.  However, Employer will be ordered to pay transportation costs from Employee’s home to Dr. Cohen’s office for any preoperative visits he had with Dr. Delamarter or his staff, to the hospital in Anchorage for the surgery he had in California, and to Dr. Cohen’s office for any follow-up visits he otherwise had with Dr. Delamarter or his staff.  Employer would have incurred these reasonable transportation costs had Employee treated locally with Dr. Cohen.

5) Is Employee, or are his providers, entitled to an award of interest?

The law requires an interest award to compensate for the time value of money.  Employee is entitled to interest on his previously controverted medically related mileage and any work-related, out-of-pocket medical expenses not paid when due.  His work-related medical providers are entitled to interest on the value of their previously controverted bills, unpaid when due.  The interest rate in effect for 2008 injuries is 7.75% per annum.    The parties did not present argument or evidence at hearing concerning the exact amounts which may be unpaid and when they were due.  The parties will be directed to attempt to resolve any remaining disputes over interest on any benefits awarded in this decision and order.  Jurisdiction is retained over this part of Employee’s claim.
6) Is Employee entitled to a penalty?

Employee contends he provided a medical mileage reimbursement request to Employer on May 18, 2009, for 2,684 miles, which was not controverted but was not paid until August 7, 2009.  He argues this lack of controversion combined with lack of timely payment requires a penalty.  Employer did not discuss this issue in its brief or at hearing. This issue involves factual determinations to which the presumption of compensability applies.  

In the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Employee successfully raised the presumption he is entitled to a late payment penalty through his May 18, 2009 itemized mileage statement, the lack of a controversion notice for this mileage, and letters from Employer’s adjuster dated August 7, 2009.  The mileage log and letters, respectively, indicate the mileage log was served on May 18, 2009, but the mileage was not paid until August 7, 2009.  Based upon these facts, Employee successfully established a “preliminary link” showing he provided his medical transportation log to Employer’s adjuster, the mileage was not controverted on a Board-prescribed form, and payment was not forthcoming within 30 days, so the §120 presumption attaches to this part of Employee’s claim.

In the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the burden of production shifts to Employer.  Employer presented no contrary evidence or argument to rebut the raised presumption.  Therefore, absent substantial evidence to the contrary, Employee prevails on this issue on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.  Alternately, had Employer presented evidence or argument sufficient to rebut the raised presumption, the evidence nevertheless weighs in Employee’s favor on this issue.  Employee’s mileage logs show they were submitted to Employer’s adjuster on May 18, 2009.  The record does not reflect any controversion notice filed in respect to these miles, which totaled 2,684.  The parties apparently agree the mileage due and paid was $1,234.67.  Letters from Employer’s adjuster show payment was made on August 7, 2009, which is more than 30 days from the date Employer’s agent was served with the mileage logs.  Accordingly, absent timely controversion or payment, the law requires imposition of a penalty on the value of the mileage in the amount of $308.67 ($1,234.67 X 25% = $308.67).

7) Is Employee entitled to an award of fees and costs?

Employee seeks an award of double, reasonable, actual attorney’s fees pursuant to AS 23.30.145(b), because he argues this case is “primarily a medical claim.”  Employer objects and argues the fee request should be analyzed under Harnish, and AS 23.30.145, which it says requires fee awards be reasonable.  

Harnish involved a case in which the employer did not controvert the employee’s claim at all.  In the instant case, Employer filed a timely controversion notice denying liability for all but local transportation expenses.  Accordingly, Harnish is distinguishable on its facts from this case, its discussion of AS 23.30.145(b) is limited to the facts, and it does not mention or discuss 
8 AAC 45.180, but gives good general guidance.  Harnish identifies two elements for a fee award under §145(b) when the employer has not controverted a workers’ compensation “claim”: 1) the employer “otherwise resisted” payment of benefits, and 2) the claimant “employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim” (Harnish, 160 P.3d 146 at 153).  

AS 23.30.145(b) applies when an employer “fails to file timely notice of controversy,” “controversy” not being a term of art in the Act or the case law, but Harnish fails to discuss whether §145(b) applies if an employer files a timely notice of controversion after an employee filed a “claim.”  It also applies if an employer “fails to pay” medical or other benefits within 15 days of the date they become due, and applies if the employer “otherwise resists” paying compensation.  Harnish, because of its facts, does not stand for the idea an injured worker may not seek and obtain fees under AS 23.30.145(b) in a case in which the employer timely controverted a workers’ compensation “claim” and the employee’s attorney successfully prosecuted the claim.

Accordingly, Employee’s fee request is evaluated under §145(b) and 8 AAC 45.180(d)(2).  First, this is not primarily a medical claim in which Employee previously settled all other potential entitlements leaving only medical benefits at issue; it involves many and varied claims as well as the potential for additional claims.  Consequently, this is not a claim worthy of an “enhanced” or double fee.  Second, on the other hand, Employee’s medical and legal issues are complex and varied in nature, requiring similar legal services, particularly in medical depositions.  The issues involve complicated interplay of preexisting conditions, prior lumbar surgery at one of the same levels involved in the instant claim, a sexual dysfunction, gaps in the medical evidence involving PPI, and multiple post-injury surgeries.  In reviewing Employee’s attorney’s fee affidavits, experience, judgment, observations and inferences drawn from all of the above show his services appear reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed given the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, and the actual and potential benefits resulting to Employee from the services.  The attorney’s and paralegal’s hourly rates are not unlike or inconsistent with those seen in other cases with similarly experienced legal representatives.  

Because Employee prevailed on the primary issue of compensability of the L4-5 surgery, he is entitled to payment of his medical costs in excess of $57,000.00 associated with that surgery now and may be entitled to any and all other applicable benefits associated with that work-related surgery and its sequelae.  This is a significant present benefit for Employee and is the result of his attorney’s efforts.  Even though the PPI issue is deferred and Employee did not prevail on his relatively minor transportation-to-California issue, the fees he seeks are reasonable given the test set forth in 8 AAC 45.180, and the present results for Employee as discussed in this decision.  However, Employee’s paralegal’s fees (which are actually “costs” pursuant to 
8 AAC 45.180(f)(14)), will be reduced by $225.00 for the 1.5 hours on September 16, 2010, during which the paralegal attended a deposition as an observer without actually participating in any way to assist the attorney, which was unreasonable and unnecessary.  Employee’s attorney will be awarded $39,477.50 in fees and in $2,164.14 in costs ($2,389.14 - $255.00 = $2,164.14).
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1) Employee’s need for medical treatment at the L4-5 spinal level arose out of and in the course of his employment with Employer.

2) Employee’s employment with Employer was the substantial cause of the need for medical treatment attributable to the L4-5 spinal level.

3) Employee’s claim he is entitled to an additional PPI award will be held in abeyance pending the results of a medical evaluation.

4) Employer must not pay transportation expenses to California because it is not the nearest point where adequate medical facilities were available for Employee’s May 2009 low back surgery.

5) Employee and his providers are entitled to an award of interest.

6) Employee is entitled to a penalty.

7) Employee is entitled to an award of fees and costs.


ORDER

1) Employer shall pay for Employee’s past medical treatment at the L4-5 spinal level, subject of this claim.

2) Employee’s claim to additional PPI is held in abeyance pending the results of a medical evaluation.

3) A Workers’ Compensation Officer is directed to hold a prehearing conference in this case within 30 days of this decision to schedule the medical evaluation with Dr. James Downey and Dr. Thomas Gritzka forthwith, pursuant to AS 23.30.110(g) and 23.30.155(h), if they are willing and able to see Employee.  The parties shall at that prehearing conference provide copies of all relevant medical records and medical depositions in their possession to the officer to send to the physicians.  In the officer’s discretion, the parties may at that prehearing submit questions for the physicians, which the officer may send along with questions posed by the officer.  The issue for Dr. Downey’s examination and report is the causation, compensability and PPI for the retrograde ejaculation condition.  Dr. Downey’s opinion shall be sent to Dr. Gritzka who will also examine Employee and determine his proper PPI rating for his lumbar spine issues found compensable by this decision and order and will include any PPI rating provided by Dr. Downey, pursuant to the Guides 6th Edition protocol and AS 23.30.190.   Jurisdiction is retained over this issue in the event these physicians are unable or unwilling to participate.

4) Employee’s claim for transportation expenses to California is denied.

5) Employee and his providers are entitled to an award of interest in conformance with this decision.  Jurisdiction is retained over any disputes.

6) Employee is entitled to a penalty in accordance with this decision.  Jurisdiction is retained over any disputes

7) Employee is awarded reasonable fees of $39,252.50, and costs of $2,389.14.

Dated in Anchorage, Alaska on October 29, 2010.
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RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

EXTRAORDINARY REVIEW

Within 10 days after the date of service of the Board’s decision and order from which review is sought and before the filing of a timely request for reconsideration of the Board decision and order from which review is sought, a party may file a motion for extraordinary review seeking review of an interlocutory or other non-final Board decision or order with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission under 8 AAC 57.072 and 8 AAC 57.074.  However, the parties are advised the commission decided in Municipality of Anchorage v. McKitrick, AWCAC Decision No. 136 (June 30, 2010), it has no jurisdiction to hear appeals from interlocutory decisions and appellate review must be made to the Alaska Supreme Court.  The commission may or may not accept a petition for extraordinary review and a timely request for relief from the Court may also be required.
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